# TOXIC AND ESSENTIAL METAL INTERACTIONS

*Robert A. Goyer* 6405 Huntingridge Road, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27514

KEY WORDS: nutrition, pregnancy, metal toxicity

#### ABSTRACT

Cadmium, lead, mercury, and aluminum are toxic metals that may interact metabolically with nutritionally essential metals. Iron deficiency increases absorption of cadmium, lead, and aluminum. Lead interacts with calcium in the nervous system to impair cognitive development. Cadmium and aluminum interact with calcium in the skeletal system to produce osteodystrophies. Lead replaces zinc on heme enzymes and cadmium replaces zinc on metallothionein. Selenium protects from mercury and methylmercury toxicity. Aluminum interacts with calcium in bone and kidneys, resulting in aluminum osteodystrophy. Calcium deficiency along with low dietary magnesium may contribute to aluminum-induced degenerative nervous disease.

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	38			
CADMIUM	39			
Interactions with Calcium Metabolism	39			
Interactions with Zinc Metabolism	40			
Effects of Pregnancy				
Effects of Iron Deficiency	40			
LEAD	40			
Interactions with Calcium	41			
Interactions with Iron				
Interactions with Zinc				
Interactions with Copper in Human Milk				
MERCURY	45			
Interactions with Selenium	45			
ALUMINUM	46			
Interactions with Calcium, Magnesium, and Manganese	46			

#### 38 GOYER

Interactions with Iron	46
SUMMARY	47

# INTRODUCTION

Nutritionally essential metals may modify health risks from exposure to nonessential toxic metals. Although the basic role of nutritionally essential metals is to provide some component of a vital biochemical or enzymatic reaction, a number of metabolic interactions between nutritionally essential and nonessential toxic metals may reduce the health hazard of the toxic metal. This is not surprising in that some toxic metals and nutritionally essential metals share common chemical characteristics. This chapter identifies and defines the site of the interaction where evidence is available. Interactions between metabolically related essential metals per se—e.g. copper-zinc, iron-copper, etc—are beyond the scope of this chapter. Also, potential interactions between exclusively toxic metals are not considered, because for the most part such interactions, if they occur, are not well understood.

The toxic nonessential metals—aluminum, cadmium, mercury, and lead are characterized as having no demonstrated biological requirement in humans, and exposure is associated with recognizable toxicity. Also, severity of toxicity increases with increases in dosage. Although there may be some lower limit of exposure at which toxicity may not be detected (threshold), there may be no level at the molecular level that does not have an adverse effect (37).

The best-defined and clinically important relationships between nutrition and toxic metals are shown in Table 1. These are the most-studied metal-nutrient interactions, and there is both experimental and clinical evidence that these nutritional factors have an impact on health outcomes from toxic metal exposures.

Toxic metal	Essential metal	Health effect
Cadmium	Zinc Iron	Nephrotoxicity
Lead	Calcium Iron Zinc	Cognitive/behavioral effects in children
Mercury	Selenium	CNS toxicity
Aluminum	Iron Calcium	CNS toxicity Osteodystrophy
	Magnesium	Osteodystrophy
	Manganese	

Table 1 Toxic-essential metal interactions<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>CNS, Central nervous system.

# CADMIUM

Cadmium is a ubiquitous environmental pollutant (18, 71). It is nutritionally nonessential and toxic, and it interacts with the metabolism of three essential metals: calcium, zinc, and iron. Cadmium's pathway to man is from food, particularly leafy vegetables, grains, and cereals. The tobacco leaf is, in this sense, a leafy plant and contains substantial amounts of cadmium, so pack-a-day cigarette smokers virtually double their cadmium intake. Cadmium accumulates in the liver and kidneys and has a long biological half-life, from 17–30 years in man. Toxicity involves two organ systems, the renal and skeletal systems, and is largely the consequence of the interactions between cadmium and essential metals, particularly calcium.

# Interactions with Calcium Metabolism

IN KIDNEYS Cadmium interferes with calcium and vitamin D metabolism in the kidney. Epidemiologic studies in Belgium of people living in communities where there has long been cadmium pollution from nonferrous metal refineries have found hypercalciuria, particularly in older women (12, 13). Whether the hypercalciuria is severe enough to enhance susceptibility to osteoporosis is currently being studied. This may be the "forme fruste" of a much more severe bone disease discovered in Japan, called Itai-Itai disease, which is thought to be due to excess cadmium exposure from rice and to nutritional deficiencies of calcium, vitamin D, zinc, and iron (71). Both the hypercalciuria in Belgium and Itai-Itai in Japan occur in older women who have borne children.

IN BONE Interactions between cadmium and calcium in bone may result in disorders of bone metabolism. Cadmium deposited in osteoid tissue interferes with calcification, decalcification, and bone remodeling (8). There is some debate as to whether the primary effect of cadmium on calcium metabolism is due more to its effect on kidneys or to its effect on bone. It has been hypothesized that renal loss of bone minerals produces osteopenia and, eventually, osteomalacia (71). However, experimental evidence summarized by Bhattacharyya et al (8) suggests that the calcium release from bone occurs prior to any evidence of a renal effect. In some studies, dietary cadmium inhibits the gastrointestinal absorption of calcium, probably through inhibition of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (2). Hypocalcemia in response to cadmium exposure occurs after the onset of cadmium-induced release of bone mineral (8). Also, bone changes occur with no concomitant changes in concentrations of either 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D or parathyroid hormone, two hormones expected to increase in response to a calcium deficiency caused by inadequate intestinal absorption. Although cadmium interferes with bone calcium metabolism and osteopenia is enhanced by cadmium nephropathy and calcium deficiency, the effect of cadmium on the gastrointestinal absorption of calcium is not clear.

# Interactions with Zinc Metabolism

Interactions between zinc and cadmium metabolism are related to sharing of binding to metallothionein, a low-molecular-weight protein that binds zinc and copper and that may assist in the transport and storage of these essential metals (20, 59). Cadmium may also induce metallothionein and share binding on the protein with zinc. Cadmium bound to metallothionein in liver and kidney epithelial cells is thought to be nontoxic, but cadmium in plasma bound to metallothionein is toxic to the renal tubule while being excreted in urine (17).

# Effects of Pregnancy

Pregnant rats exposed to cadmium have blood cadmium-metallothionein levels higher than those that occur in rats not exposed to cadmium, which suggests that during pregnancy cadmium absorption from the gastrointestinal tract is increased along with zinc and copper (17). Pregnancy increases cadmium accumulation in kidneys (7) and mobilizes copper and zinc bound to metallothionein (17). This might be expected in that metallothionein has a role in storage of the essential metals zinc and copper and in their transport from the placenta to the fetus, where they are required for growth and development. The source of the increase in metallothionein in a mother's plasma is not known, but some may come from the placenta, where it is synthesized by trophoblasts. The interactions between cadmium and zinc and copper in the placenta are not understood, but cadmium bound to metallothionein in the placenta does not cross the placenta. The newborn is virtually cadmium-free, whereas zinc and copper are readily supplied to the fetus (39).

# Effects of Iron Deficiency

Iron deficiency increases cadmium absorption from the gastrointestinal tract. It has been shown both in experiment animals and in humans that cadmium absorption from the intestinal tract is inversely related to blood ferritin levels (28). The mechanism for this relationship is not known.

# LEAD

Lead toxicity affects several organ systems, including the nervous, hematopoietic, renal, endocrine, and skeletal, depending on the age of the subject and the size of the dose, but the effect of major concern today is the impairment of cognitive and behavioral development in infants and young children in the general population (51). Effects occur from low-level exposures from various environmental sources, including lead-based paint and household dust in homes containing surfaces covered with lead-based paint. Lead in air, food, and water is also of concern, but hazards from these sources as well as lead in dust have been greatly reduced by the removal of lead from gasoline. The elimination of lead solder from food cans has reduced the hazard of exposure to lead from canned food, in particular canned milk for infant formula. There is increasing awareness of the hazard from lead in tap water contaminated from solder and lead-containing fittings in residential plumbing. Lead in water is more efficiently absorbed than lead in food is; lead in water used for infant formula is an additional hazard.

Measurable effects occur with blood lead levels in the 10- to  $15-\mu$ g/dl range, and more than a million children in the United States have blood levels in this range or higher (1, 51). Nutritional deficiencies of essential metals can increase the hazard from lead exposure by enhancing absorption and toxicity of dietary lead. The essential metals with the most marked influence on blood lead levels and toxic effects are dietary levels of calcium, iron, and zinc.

## Interactions with Calcium

Lead and calcium interactions are probably the most studied nutritional factors affecting lead toxicity, both clinically and experimentally. There are several suggestions in the lead toxicity literature that the two metals are metabolically related. Aub and colleagues, in 1926 (3), pointed out that physiologically, the "Pb stream" follows the "calcium stream," and in 1970, Six & Goyer (64) showed that a low-calcium diet containing varying levels of lead fed to rats resulted in considerably higher blood and tissue levels of lead than those that occurred in rats fed a normal calcium diet. This study also showed that the increase in lead content of the kidneys was considerably greater than the increase in bone lead. The importance of this is that the toxic effects of lead are related to blood lead levels and, in turn, soft tissue levels, and that low dietary calcium increases lead in critical organs. There are reports of many other experimental studies showing that absorption of lead by the gastrointestinal tract is inversely related to calcium content of the diet (6,48). Bogden et al (10) have shown an inverse relationship between brain lead and dietary calcium, confirming that nutritional deficiency of calcium not only elevates blood lead levels, it also increases lead in the critical organ for toxicity in infants and young children.

Although it is not possible to mimic the animal studies in people, balance studies conducted by Ziegler et al (74) showed an inverse relationship between dietary calcium and lead absorption and retention. It has also been shown that milk alone may not be an effective source of calcium for this purpose, because other dietary constituents of milk such as lactose and fat may actually enhance lead absorption (63). Mahaffey et al (47) reviewed the relationship between blood lead levels and dietary calcium intake in about 3000 children examined as part of the second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II). A significant and independent inverse association was observed

#### 42 GOYER

between dietary calcium intake, estimated from dietary recall data, and blood lead level in this large, stratified, national probability sample. The importance of adequate dietary calcium in the prevention of childhood lead toxicity is now well accepted, and children at risk are provided calcium supplements in state and city lead prevention programs. The Centers for Disease Control guidelines for prevention of childhood lead poisoning recommends adequate dietary calcium and iron as measures to prevent lead toxicity (15).

Although there is considerable support for the importance of adequate dietary calcium, there is little information regarding the effect of excess calcium, either on lead absorption or on changing tissue levels of lead. Barton (5) reported that increasing the calcium dose in the intubation media reduced lead uptake from isolated intestinal loops. Bogden et al (10) found a small but significant reduction in blood lead in rats receiving a moderately heavy dietary calcium (2.5%) compared to blood lead levels in rats receiving 0.5% dietary calcium. In studies of adults, Blake & Mann (9) found that ingestion of milk does reduce the short-term retention of ingested lead. These studies suggest that excess calcium may lower lead absorption and blood lead levels, but the influence of excess calcium on reducing the effects of lead toxicity seems considerably less dramatic than the effect of enhancing toxicity by less-than-adequate dietary calcium.

Calcium-lead interactions are also related to critical clinical effects of lead at the cellular and molecular level, particularly for effects of lead on neurodevelopment and neuro-function, as summarized by Goyer (38) and Verity (67) (Table 2). Lead interferes with neurotransmitter kinetics, including dopamine and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (50), and blocks entry of calcium into nerve terminals (62) and impairs normal calcium homeostasis in cells, which is essential for normal cell function, by competing with calcium for uptake by calcium channels (61). Lead also inhibits all calcium channel subtypes equally (4). It has been found that calcium channel–modifying drugs have similar effects on lead entry into cells (62).

Lead blocks calcium efflux from cells probably by substituting for calcium in calcium-sodium ATP pumps (62). This is probably one of the mechanisms

 Table 2
 Lead effects on cellular calcium metabolism<sup>a</sup>

Interferes with neurotransmitter kinetics Blocks voltage-dependent calcium membrane channels Substitues for calcium in calcium-sodium ATP pump Competes for Ca-binding protein sites Competes for uptake by mitochondria Binds to second messenger calcium receptors e.g. calmodulin, protein kinase C

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Modified from Goyer (38) and Verity (67).

by which lead interacts with calcium in the intestine; the less calcium there is in the diet, the more lead is absorbed (5). The other mechanism at the gut level is lead competing with calcium for binding sites on calcium-binding proteins (30).

It was found many years ago that mitochondrial respiration and oxidative phosphorylation were decreased in renal tubular cells isolated from lead toxic rats (36). Subsequent studies have shown that lead inhibits calcium uptake in brain mitochondria (34) and may even displace calcium within the mitochondrion (42).

Probably the most critical interaction between lead and calcium occurs within cells where lead interferes with calcium receptors that are coupled with secondmessenger functions. Lead-related interference with calcium homeostasis and calcium messenger systems has been reviewed in detail by Pounds et al (56), and by Bressler & Goldstein (11). Intracellular calcium signals are received by a variety of calcium receptor proteins. The two that have received the most attention in relation to lead effect are calmodulin and protein kinase C. Calmodulin serves as a sensor for the concentration of calcium inside the nerve terminus, stimulating neurotransmitter release. Lead acts by displacing calcium ions bound to calmodulin (40). Protein kinase C is activated by calcium, and lead appears to be more active than calcium in increasing the activity of this enzyme. Protein kinase C-mediated responses include cell division and proliferation, cell-cell communications, and organization of the cytoskeleton. Protein kinase C activates kinases in the nerve terminus that phosphorylate specific brain proteins in synaptic vesicles, resulting in the increased release of neurotransmitters (35). Regulation of neurotransmitter release is important in the modulation of cognitive and behavioral function. It has been suggested that increased vascular reactivity in lead-induced hypertension is due to increased protein kinase C and to lead-induced changes in cellular calcium metabolism (16).

#### Interactions with Iron

Iron deficiency has been shown in experiment animals to increase lead absorption from the intestinal tract (65), but attempts to demonstrate this relationship in human populations have not been consistent (46). Participation of children who are at risk to excess lead exposure in the Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC Program), precludes the demonstration of the impact of iron deficiency on increased lead absorption (25). The mechanism by which lead affects iron absorption is uncertain. A possible connection between intestinal ferritin and iron has been suggested for some time (27). Kochen & Greener (45) have shown that lead competes with iron for ferritin binding sites. Whether transferrin in the intestinal mucosa is also involved in some way has not been demonstrated. Diaz-Barriga et al (23) found a negative correlation between blood lead levels and the ratio of iron-to-iron-binding capacity for children between ages 9 and 11 years of age.

Because iron deficiency is a common nutritional problem among the same children at risk for lead toxicity, it is now a general practice to supplement the diets of these children with iron as well as calcium. The relationship between iron deficiency and the impaired cognitive and behavioral development seen in children with excess lead exposure is complex in that iron deficiency in itself may impair early mental development (72).

# Interactions with Zinc

Lead and zinc interactions are not as well defined as those between lead and calcium and lead and iron. It has been shown experimentally that lead increases zinc excretion (68), and that zinc deficiency enhances lead absorption (38). Prasad et al (57) found that zinc deficiency decreases the activity of thymulin, a zinc-containing nonapeptide derived from the epithelium of the thymus gland, and Hemalatha et al (41) suggest that mild zinc deficiency in children may be recognized by correlating plasma and leukocyte zinc levels with serum thymulin levels.

There is a close inverse relationship between blood lead and activity of zinc-containing heme enzymes, particularly  $\delta$ -aminolevulinic acid, which suggests that lead replaces zinc in these enzymes. Oral administration of zinc sulfate following chelation therapy has been found to significantly increase  $\delta$ -aminolevulinicacid dehydratase activity (26).

# Interactions with Copper in Human Milk

The content of lead and copper in human milk is inversely related. An important observation regarding lead-copper interactions concerns lead and copper in human milk. Human milk contains relatively low levels of both iron and copper, whereas both minerals are very important to the developing infant. Kies & Umoren (43) found that as the lead content of human milk increased, the amount of copper in the milk decreased. Whether lead-copper interaction is at the site of absorption of copper from the gastrointestinal tract or at some other metabolic or transport site has not been determined. Lead-exposed rats have a significant decrease in hepatic copper (24). Rodents with lead toxicity have reduced plasma copper and ceruloplasmin levels (54), and the addition of dietary lead to copper deficient animals reduces growth rate (55).

# Interactions of Copper with Iron in Lead-Induced Anemia

There are a number of incompletely understood relationships between copper and iron and lead-induced anemia. Hematopoiesis is depressed in animals with low dietary copper and is further depressed by lead exposure, resulting in anemia (44). Lead inhibits ferrochelatase activity. Ferrochelatase is an iron-containing enzyme and is needed to incorporate iron into the hemoglobin molecule. Lead replaces iron in the ferrochelatase molecule. The activity of the enzyme is restored by adding iron in vitro, but this does not occur in vivo and without the coadministration of copper. Inhibition of ferrochelatase by lead may be overcome in rats by feeding them copper (66).

## MERCURY

### Interactions with Selenium

Several nutrients have been found to affect the toxicity of mercury. Of these, selenium has been the most widely studied. Parizek & Ostadalova (52) were the first to show that selenium protected against acute toxicity of mercury. The mechanism for this effect is unknown, but it has been noted that vitamin E and other antioxidants also decrease mercury toxicity (21,69). This prompts the hypothesis that selenium may decrease mercury toxicity by counteracting the effects of free radicals generated by mercury toxicity to cell membranes (32). Mercury alters the cellular oxidant state by decreasing activity of enzymes of glutathione (GSH) biosynthesis. Mercuric chloride administered to rats causes a marked decrease in activities of glutathione reductase and  $\delta$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (49) in kidneys. However, when rats were given selenium after mercury (2:1 ratio of mercury to selenium), the depression in activities of GSH synthesis enzymes was blocked. Chmielnicka (19) found that sodium selenite given jointly with mercuric chloride decreased the rise in urinary excretion of endogenous copper and zinc induced by renal mercury toxicity. It is suggested that sodium selenite diminishes the affinity of inorganic mercury for the kidneys and reduces the level of mercury bound to renal metallothionein. In general, selenium has a protective effect in that it delays the onset of mercury toxicity or reduces the severity of the effects of both inorganic forms of mercury and methylmercury. It has been suggested that high selenium levels in fish may be protective against toxicity of the methylmercury (33). The influence of selenium in tuna and other seafood on risk of health effects from dietary consumption has not been determined.

There is also evidence that various forms of selenium, including selenate and selenide, when administered to rats together with mercuric chloride, reduce the toxicity of both selenium and mercury, probably by forming a mercury-selenium complex that can be detected in nuclei of renal tubular cells by electron microscopy (14). The presence of both elements in the nuclear inclusion bodies has been detected by X-ray microanalysis. The metals are probably complexed in a protein matrix that has not been identified but may be similar to lead or bismuth inclusion bodies (29, 36).

# ALUMINUM

Aluminum is a toxic metal, but it generally does not cause adverse health effects among people in the general population. On the other hand, as the constituent of common sand (aluminum silicate), it is one of the most abundant metals in the earth's crust, and inhaled and ingested aluminum compounds are absorbed in the body to some extent. Elimination of aluminum from the body is mainly via urine. There is some evidence for a metabolic relationship between aluminum and iron, calcium, magnesium, and manganese (31).

# Interactions with Calcium, Magnesium, and Manganese

A unique environmental combination of low dietary intake of calcium and magnesium, together with high concentrations of aluminum and manganese in drinking water, has been proposed as a factor in the incidence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Parkinsonian-dementia in specific areas of the western Pacific (53). Experiments with primates and rabbits fed diets deficient in calcium and magnesium together with aluminum and manganese have shown increased aluminum accumulation in some organs, particularly in the kidneys and in bone, but they failed to produce central nervous system changes (70). However, a recent study by Yasui et al (73) in rats led to high concentrations of manganese and aluminum in the frontal cortex. The authors concluded that these metal-metal interactions may lead to unequal distributions of aluminum and manganese in bones and the central nervous system, resulting in neural degeneration. Aluminum has been linked to the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease, but this relationship is controversial (22) and does not appear to be related to any interaction with essential trace minerals. Humans with impaired kidney function and in renal failure (uremia) or on hemodialysis may accumulate aluminum to levels toxic to bone metabolism, resulting in a form of osteodystrophy (8), and in the central nervous system, producing impaired memory, dementia, aphasia, ataxia, convulsions, and characteristic electroencephalogram changes (22). Aluminum also slows calcification of new bone and becomes deposited in the bone matrix in place of calcium. However, there does not appear to be any direct interaction between calcium and aluminum, and the effect of aluminum on bone is now thought to be the result of cellular toxicity (60).

## Interactions with Iron

Aluminum behaves similarly to iron in many biological systems, and iron deficiency increases the absorption of iron in rats. In this way aluminum may indirectly affect the toxicity of aluminum. It has been suggested that aluminum is taken up in the gut by specialized iron-absorption pathways. Although iron uptake by the intestine is a regulated process dependent on the needs of the body, there is no evidence that absorption of aluminum is regulated. The major plasma binder of aluminum is transferrin, an iron-transport protein that also binds with other metals, including aluminum, at two specific binding sites (22). Iron-to-aluminum ratios in different organs vary widely. High ratios occur in the spleen, liver, and kidneys and seem to be related to the high iron concentrations in these organs. High ratios in heart and brain muscle are due to low aluminum concentrations in these tissues, whereas low ratios in the intestine, lungs, skin, and hair are associated with relatively high aluminum concentrations in these organs. Aluminum also increases in the liver, along with iron in hemochromatosis and other disorders of iron overload. Roskams & Conner (58) have suggested that aluminum's toxicity in the brain may be due at least in part to disruption of normal iron homeostasis and iron-dependent cellular metabolism.

# SUMMARY

Cadmium toxicity affects calcium metabolism either by direct toxicity to bone or indirectly from renal toxicity. Zinc and cadmium metabolism are related via metallothionein; both induce synthesis of metallothionein. Calcium, iron, and zinc deficiency enhance cadmium and lead toxicity by increasing absorption of the toxic metals and by exchanging with the essential cation on biochemically active sites, including receptor proteins in the brain. Selenium protects from mercury and methylmercury toxicity, probably by preventing damage from free radicals by increasing the mercury-induced depression in glutathionesynthesizing enzymes and by forming inactive selenium-mercury complexes. There is some evidence for a metabolic relationship between aluminum, iron, calcium, magnesium, and manganese in bone and the central nervous system. The influence of these relationships on aluminum toxicity is uncertain.

From what is known about toxic-essential metal interactions, it is now clear that essential metal deficiencies do influence health effects from toxic metal exposures and that adequate dietary essential metals are necessary for prevention and intervention of metal toxicities.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.annurev.org.

#### Literature Cited

- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 1988. The Nature and Extent of Lead Poisoning in the United States: a Report to Congress. Atlanta, GA: US Dep. Health & Hum. Serv.
- Ando M, Shimizu M, Sayato Y, Tanimura A, Tobe M. 1981. The inhibition of vitamin D-stimulated intestinal calcium trans-

port in rats after continuous oral administration of cadmium. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 61:297–301

- Aub JC, Fairhall LT, Minot AS, Reznikoff PP, Hamilton A. 1926. *Lead Poisoning*. *Med. Monogr.*, Vol. 7. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins
- 4. Audesirk G, Audesirk T. 1993. The effects

of inorganic lead on voltage-sensitive calcium channels differ among cell types and among channel subtypes. *Neurotoxicology* 14:259–66

- Barton JC. 1984. Active transport of lead-210 by everted segments of rat duodenum. *Am. J. Physiol.* 247:G193–98
- Barton JC, Conrad ME, Harrison L, Nuby S. 1978. Effects of calcium on the absorption and retention of lead. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 91:366–76
- Bhattacharyya MH, Whelton BD, Peterson DP, Carnes BA, Moretti ES, et al. 1988. Skeletal changes in multiparous mice fed a nutrient-sufficient diet containing cadmium. *Toxicology* 50:193–204
- cadmium. Toxicology 50:193–204
   Bhattacharyya MH, Wilson AK, Silbergeld EK, Watson L, Jeffrey E. 1995. Metal-induced osteotoxicities. In *Metal Toxicology*, ed. RA Goyer, CD Klaassen, MP Waalkes, 1:465–510. San Diego: Academic. 525 pp.
- Blake KCH, Mann M. 1983. Effect of calcium and phosphorus on the absorption of <sup>203</sup>lead in man. *Environ. Res.* 30:188–94
- Bogden JD, Gertner SB, Christakos S, Kemp FW, Yang Z, et al. 1992. Dietary calcium modifies concentrations of lead and other metals and renal calbindin in rats. *Ca. J. Nutr.* 122:1351–60
- Bressler JP, Goldstein GW. 1991. Mechanisms of lead neurotoxicity. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 41:479–84
- Buchet JP, Lauwerys R, Roels H, Bernard A, Bruaux P, et al. 1990. Renal effects of cadmium body burden of the general population. *Lancet* 336:699–702
- Buchet JP, Lauwerys R, Vandewoorde A, Pycke JM. 1983. Oral daily intake of cadmium, lead, manganese, copper, chromium, mercury, calcium, zinc and arsenic in Belgium: a duplicate meal study. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 21:19–24
- Carmichael NG, Squibb KS, Engel DW, Fowler BA. 1980. Metals in the molluscan kidney: uptake and subcellular distribution of <sup>109</sup>Cd, <sup>54</sup>Mn and <sup>65</sup>Zn by the clam, *Mercenaria mercenaria. Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* 65:203–6
- Centers for Disease Control. 1991. Preventing Lead Poisoning in Young Children: a Statement by the Centers for Disease Control. Atlanta, GA: US Dep. Health & Hum. Serv./Public Health Serv./CDC. 35 pp.
- Chai S, Webb RC. 1988. Effects of lead on vascular reactivity. *Environ. Health Per*spect. 78:85–90
- Chan H, Cherian MG. 1993. Mobilization of hepatic cadmium in pregnant rats.

Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 120:308-14

- Cherian MG, Goyer, RA. 1989. Cadmium toxicity. Comm. Toxicol. 3:191–206
- Chmielnicka J. 1994. Experimental study of interactions between selenium, zinc, and copper. Proc. Selenium-Tellurium Dev. Assoc. Int. Symp., 5th, Brussels, pp. 171– 72
- Chmielnicka J, Cherian MG. 1986. Environmental exposure to cadmium and factors affecting trace-element metabolism and metal toxicity. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 10:243–62
- Clarkson TW. 1987. Metal toxicity in the central nervous system. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 75:59–64
- DeVoto E, Yokel RA. 1994. The biological speciation and toxicokinetics of aluminum. *Environ. Health Perspect*. 102:940–51
- Diaz-Barriga F, Caldron L, Batres L, Yanez L, Paz E, et al. 1996. Children's nutritional status and exposure to metals. *Proc. Conf. Modulation Chem. Toxicol. Risk Assess., June 6–12, Univ. Ariz., Tucson*, p. 37 (Abstr.)
- Dhawan D, Singh B, Chand B, Singh N, Mangal PC. 1995. X-ray fluorescence in the assessment of inter-elemental interactions in rat liver following lead treatment. *Biometals* 8:105–10
- Dietrich KN. 1991. Lead toxicity, mineral intake and child development. *Clin. Appl. Nutr.* 1:27–38
- Dutkiewicz B, Dutkiewicz T, Milkowska G. 1979. The effect of mixed exposures to lead and zinc on ALA level in urine. *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health* 42:341–48
- Flanagan PR. 1989. Mechanisms and regulation of intestinal uptake and transfer of iron. Acta Paediatr. Scand. Suppl. 361:21– 30
- Flanagan PR, McLellan JS, Haist J, Cherian MD, Chamberlain MJ, et al. 1978. Increased dietary cadmium absorption in mice and human subjects with iron deficiency. *Gastroenterology* 74:841–46
- Fowler BA, Goyer RA. 1975. Bismuth localization within nuclear inclusions by Xray microanalysis. Effects of accelerating voltage. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 23:722– 26
- Fullmer CS. 1992. Intestinal interactions of lead and calcium. *Neurotoxicology* 13: 799–808
- Ganrot PO. 1986. Metabolism and possible health effects of aluminum. *Environ. Health Perspect*. 65:363–441
- Ganther HE. 1978. Modification of methyl mercury toxicity and metabolism by vitamin E and selenium. *Environ. Health Per*spect. 25:71–76

- Ganther HE, Sunde ML. 1974. Effect of tuna fish and selenium on the toxicity of methyl mercury: a progress report. J. Food Sci. 39:1–5
- Goldstein GW. 1977. Lead encephalopathy: the significance of lead inhibition of calcium uptake by brain mitochondria. *Brain Res.* 136:185–88
- Goldstein GW. 1990. Lead poisoning and brain cell function. *Environ. Health Per*spect. 89:91–100
- Goyer RA. 1990. Environmentally related diseases of the urinary tract. *Environ. Med.* 74:377–89
- Goyer RA. 1994. Biology and nutrition of essential elements. In *Risk Assessment* of *Essential Elements*, ed. W Mertz, CO Abernathy, SS Olin, pp. 13–19. Washington, DC: Int. Life Sci. Inst. 300 pp.
- Goyer RA. 1995. Nutrition and metal toxicity. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 61(Suppl.):646–50S
- 39. Goyer RA, Cherian MG. 1992. Role of metallothionein in human placenta and rats exposed to cadmium. In *Cadmium* in the Human Environment: Toxicity and *Carcinogenicity*, ed. GE Nordberg, RFM Herber, L Alessio, 1:239–47. Lyon: Int. Agency Res. Cancer. 469 pp.
- Habermann E, Crowell K, Janicki P. 1983. Lead and other metals can substitute for Ca<sup>2+</sup> in calmodulin. Arch. Toxicol. 54:61– 70
- Hemalatha MB, Bhaskaram SP, Gadri YH, Kumar PA. 1993. Assessment of mild zinc deficiency in children. *Nutr. Res.* 13:115– 22
- Kapoor SC, Van Rossum GDV. 1984. Effects of Pb<sup>2+</sup> added in vitro on Ca<sup>2+</sup> movements in isolated mitochondria and slices of rat kidney cortex. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 33:1771–78
- Kies C, Umoren J. 1989. Inhibitors of copper bioutilization: fiber, lead phytate and tannins. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 258:81–92
- Klauder DS, Petering HG. 1975. Protective value of dietary copper and iron against some toxic effects of lead in rats. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 12:77–80
- 45. Kochen J, Greener Y. 1975. Interaction of ferritin with lead and cadmium. *Pediatr. Res.* 9:323
- Mahaffey KR. 1985. Factors modifying susceptibility to lead toxicity. In *Dietary* and Environmental Lead: Human Health Effects, ed. KR Mahaffey, 1:373–420. New York: Elsevier. 459 pp.
- 47. Mahaffey KR, Gartside PS, Glueck CJ. 1986. Blood lead levels and dietary calcium intake in 1 to 11 year-old children: the Second National Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey, 1976 to 1980. Pediatrics 78:257-62

- Mahaffey KR, Haseman JD, Goyer RA. 1973. Dose-response to lead ingestion in rats fed low dietary calcium. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 83:92–100
- Maines MD. 1994. Modulating factors that determine interindividual differences in response to metals. In *Risk Assessment of Essential Metals*, ed. W Mertz, CO Abernathy, SS Olin, 1:21–24. Washington, DC: Int. Life Sci. 300 pp.
- Mennema DJ, Michaelson IA, Cooper GP. 1988. Calcium efflux and neurotransmitter release from rat hippocampal synaptosomes. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 92:351– 57
- National Research Council. 1993. Measuring Lead Exposure in Infants, Children and Other Sensitive Populations. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. 337 pp.
- Parizek J, Ostadalova I. 1967. The protective effect of small amounts of selenite in sublimate intoxication. *Experimentia* 23:142–43
- Perl DPC, Gjadusek DC, Garruto RM, Yanaghara T, Gibbs CJ. 1982. Intraneuronal aluminum accumulation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Parkinsoniandementia of Guam. *Science* 217:1053–55
- Petering HG. 1974. The effect of cadmium and lead on copper and zinc metabolism. In *Trace Element Metabolism in Animals–2*, ed. WG Hoekstra, JW Suttie, HE Ganther, W Mertz, 1:311–25. Baltimore: University Park
- Petering HG. 1978. Some observations on the interaction zinc, copper and iron metabolism in lead and cadmium toxicity. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 25:141–45
- Pounds JG, Long GJ, Rosen JF. 1991. Cellular and molecular toxicity of lead in bone. *Environ. Health Perspect*. 91:17–32
- Prasad AS, Meftah SJ, Abdulla D, Kaplan J, Brewer JG, et al. 1988. Serum thymulin in human zinc deficiency. J. Clin. Invest. 82:1202–10
- Roskams AJ, Conner JR. 1990. Aluminum access to the brain: a role for transferrin and its receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:9024–27
- Sato M, Nagai Y. 1989. Effect of zinc deficiency on the accumulation of metallothionein and cadmium in the rat liver and kidney. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 18:587–93
- Severson AR, Haut CF, Firling CE, Thomas EH. 1992. Influence of short-term aluminum exposure on demineralized bone matrix induced bone formation. *Arch. Toxicol.* 66:706–12

- 50 GOYER
- Simons TJ, Pocock BG. 1987. Lead enters adrenal medullary cells through calcium channels. J. Neurochem. 48:383–89
- Simons TJB. 1986. Cellular interactions between lead and calcium. *Br. Med. Bull.* 42:431–34
- Stephans R, Waldron HA. 1975 The influence of milk and related dietary constituents on lead metabolism. *Food Cosm. Toxicol.* 13:555–63
- Six KM, Goyer RA. 1970. Experimental enhancement of lead toxicity by low dietary calcium. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 83:933– 42
- Six KM, Goyer RA. 1972. The influence of iron deficiency on tissue content and toxicity of ingested lead in the rat. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 79:128–36
- Tephly T, Wagner G, Sedman R, Piper W. 1978. Effect of metals on hemebiosynthesis and metabolism. *Fed. Proc.* 37:35–39
- Verity MA. 1995. Nervous system. In Metal Toxicology, ed. RA Goyer, CD Klaassen, MP Waalkes, 1:199–224. San Diego: Academic. 525 pp.
- Victery W, Thomas D, Shoeps P, Vander AJ. 1982. Lead increases urinary zinc ex-

cretion in rats. Biol. Tr. Elem. Res. 4:211-19

- Welsh SO, Soares JH Jr. 1976. The protective effect of vitamin E and selenium against methyl mercury toxicity in the Japanese quail. *Nutr. Rep. Int.* 13:43– 51
- Wills MR, Hewitt CD, Savory J, Herman MM. 1993. Long-term aluminum administration in rabbits. II. Brain and other organs. *Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci.* 23:17–23
- World Health Organization. 1992. IPCS (International Programme for Chemical Safety) Environmental Health Criteria 134 Cadmium. Geneva: WHO. 280 pp.
- Wood SM, Hendricks DG, Schvaneveldt NB, Anderson JS. 1993. A longitudinal study of the influence of iron status on mental and motor development in infants and toddlers. *Nutr. Res.* 13:1367–78
- Yasui M, Ota K, Garruto RM. 1995. Effects of calcium-deficient diets on manganese deposition in the central nervous system and bones of rats. *Neurotoxicology* 16:511–17
- Ziegler EE, Edwards BB, Jensen RL, Mahaffey KR, Foman SJ. 1978. Absorption and retention of lead by infants. *Pediatr. Res.* 12:29–34